I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Respondent Lance E. Eisenberg files this Brief in support of his Petition for Review of the Referee's Report. Review is sought solely on the recommendation of disbarment. Respondent respectfully submits that the Referee's Report (i) misapplies the applicable legal principles; and (ii) reflects fundamental misunderstandings regarding undisputed matters of fact.

A. Introduction And Background.

Lance E. Eisenberg became a member of the Bar of this Court in 1973. During the twelve years Mr. Eisenberg practiced tax law in Florida, there were no complaints made, nor admonitions or any other adverse actions taken by the Bar, against Mr. Eisenberg (see Report of Referee ("Report") at 4).

This matter arises out of unlawful activity in which Mr. Eisenberg engaged in the middle to late 1970's. During this period Mr. Eisenberg handled banking and other financial transactions which facilitated the operation of a marijuana smuggling operation. Mr. Eisenberg admitted his wrongdoing. Through counsel he initiated disposition discussions with the government long before he was formally charged with a crime. He concluded a plea agreement in 1984. That agreement required Mr. Eisenberg's cooperation with government authorities. Government officials have uniformly agreed that Mr. Eisenberg's cooperation was extraordinarily valuable and may have placed Mr. Eisenberg in physical danger.

As soon as Mr. Eisenberg's plea agreement was entered, in 1984, Mr. Eisenberg terminated his law practice and sought to resign from the Bar. Although the Bar, and ultimately this Court, declined to formally accept this resignation, Mr. Eisenberg suspended himself from the Bar by voluntarily refusing to pay his annual Bar fees.

B. <u>Disciplinary Proceedings</u>.

When Mr. Eisenberg was sentenced on September 9, 1986, his conviction became official and the Bar commenced disbarment proceedings against him. Mr. Eisenberg did not contest the Bar's charges of guilt. By terminating his practice years before, Mr. Eisenberg accepted the fact that he committed unlawful acts which required him to cease practicing law. Mr. Eisenberg did, however, urge a sanction less severe than disbarment.

This disciplinary action resulted in a hearing on September 20, 1988, before the Honorable Robert W. Tyson, Jr. Judge Tyson's Report, dated November 29, 1988, found Mr. Eisenberg guilty of the charges contained in the Bar's Complaint and Amended Complaint and recommended that Mr. Eisenberg be disbarred. Mr. Eisenberg appeals from the recommendation for disbarment.

II, SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

The Referee's recommendation of disbarment should not be followed because it is the product of a misapplication of the governing law and the failure to properly consider undisputed matters of fact. The applicable law requires that the Florida Bar prove that a respondent not only committed a crime, but also that his rehabilitation is highly improbable. The decision on disbarment must also be informed by the consideration of mitigating factors. In this case, the Florida Bar offered no evidence showing that respondent's rehabilitation was improbable; moreover, there was extensive, uncontradicted evidence of mitigating factors of the type previously recognized by this Court. Given this record, a sanction less severe than disbarment is clearly warranted.

111. ARGUMENT.

A. Applicable Legal Principles.

It is by now quite clear that conviction of a drug offense, not to mention a drug-related offense, does not by itself justify disbarment. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>The Florida Bar v. Pavlick</u>, 504 So.2d 1231, 1235 (Fla. 1987); <u>The Florida Bar v. Carbonaro</u>, 464 So.2d 549, 551 (Fla. 1985); <u>The Florida Bar v. Pettie</u>, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1983). To justify disbarment, the Florida Bar has the burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that a

- 3 -

respondent not only committed a crime, but that his rehabilitation is highly improbable. This Court put it thus in <u>The Florida Bar</u> v. Felder, 425 So.2d 528, 530 (Fla. 1982) (citations omitted):

> 'Disbarment is an extreme penalty and should only be imposed in those rare cases where rehabilitation is highly improbable.' * '[I]t is appropriate in determining the discipline to be imposed to take into consideration circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation and restitution.' There is no showing that the rehabilitation of respondent . . . is highly improbable.

In the determination whether disbarment is justified, due process requires a consideration of mitigating factors. <u>Pavlick</u>, 504 So,2d at 1234. Among the mitigating factors that this Court has considered are:

- (1) Did the crime involve a violation of a client's
 trust? (<u>Carbonar</u>o)
- (2) Did the respondent admit his guilt in the criminal case? (compare The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983) with <u>Carbonaro</u> and <u>Pettie</u>)
- (3) What was the nature and extent of the respondent's cooperation with the government? (<u>The Florida Bar</u>
 <u>v. Hecker</u>, 475 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 1985); <u>Pettie</u>)
- (4) Was the respondent's safety threatened by virtue of his cooperation? (<u>Pettie</u>)
- (5) Did the respondent voluntarily terminate his law practice before he was required to do so? (<u>Pettie</u>; <u>The Florida Bar v. Rosen</u>, 495 So.2d 180, 181 (Fla. 1986)

- 4 -

- (6) Has the respondent suffered personal hardship, humiliation, adverse publicity and financial hardship? (<u>Carbonaro</u>)
- (7) Has respondent be able to stabilize his financial condition in an effort to meet his obligations? (<u>The Florida Bar v. Blessing</u>, 440 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1983).
- (8) Has the respondent initiated on his own a course of public service? (<u>Carbonaro</u>)
- (9) Is there evidence that the respondent suffered from a personality disorder for which he sought and received treatment, and which suggests the crime committed was an isolated act? (Carbonaro; Rosen)
- (10) Has respondent a record of other grievance matters
 with the Bar? (Pettie)

This Court recently restated the very limited circumstances which justify disbarment in <u>Carbonaro</u>, 464 So.2d at 551, <u>quoting The Florida Bar v. Moore</u>, 194 So.2d 264, 271 (Fla. 1966):

> [D]isbarment is the extreme measure of discipline that can be imposed on any lawyer. It should be resorted to only in cases where the person charged has demonstrated an attitude or course of conduct that is wholly inconsistent with approved professional standards. To sustain disbarment there must be a showing that the person charged should never be at the bar. It should never be decreed where punishment less severe, such as reprimand, temporary suspension or fine will accomplish the desired result.

This Court has defined the "desired result" of a disciplinary proceeding as:

(1) fair to the attorney; (2) just to the public; (3) designed to correct any anti-social tendencies on the part of the convicted attorney; (4) and severe enough to deter similar conduct by other attorneys.

Wilson, 425 So.2d at 3.

As demonstrated below, the Referee failed to apply these legal principles. If he had, Respondent respectfully submits that the vast weight of the undisputed evidence demonstrates that his disbarment is not warranted. $\frac{1}{2}$

B. The Referee's Report Applies The Wrong Legal Standard And Ignores The Undisputed Material Facts Which Require A Lesser Sanction.

1. The Report.

The Referee acknowledges that disbarment is "a very severe form of discipline" (Report of Referee ("Report") at 3). Citing <u>Hecker</u>, he goes on to justify his imposition of this sanction on Mr. Eisenberg, stating (id.): "I believe that illegal drug activities are a major blight on our society, nationally, statewide and locally. . . ." The Referee also noted that (<u>id</u>.): (i) "the money laundering activities of the Respondent occurred while he was acting in the capacity of an attorney"; and (ii) "the illegal activities . . encompassed a period of over four years." In further support of the disbarment recommendation the Referee observed that (<u>id</u>. at 4): "disbarment is appropriate when 'a

- 6 -

 $[\]pm'$ A referee's finding of fact will not be upheld if it is "lacking in evidentiary support." <u>Hecker</u>, 475 So.2d at 1242.

lawyer is convicted of a felony . . . ' and when 'the lawyer engages in the sale, distribution or importation of controlled substances.'"

The Referee states (<u>id</u>. at 3) that he gave "serious consideration" to the testimony of the eight witnesses presented by Respondent -- but he neither describes their testimony nor the ten mitigating factors to which their testimony is directed. The Referee does acknowledge (<u>id</u>.) that Mr. Eisenberg entered a guilty plea and cooperated with the government -- but minimizes its significance on three grounds (<u>id</u>. at 4): (i) the degree of cooperation; (ii) the extent of personal danger to which Mr. Eisenberg was subjected (citing <u>Pettie</u>); and (iii) the enigmatic statement that "the reason Respondent approached the government was for the purpose of entering plea negotiations.!!

2. Application Of The Wrong Legal Standard.

The Referee's Report reflects the following legal analysis: <u>Hecker</u> requires disbarment of attorneys convicted of drug offenses; <u>Pettie</u> permits a lesser sanction in such cases, but only where the respondent was subjected to immediate and imminent bodily harm by virtue of his cooperation. Even a cursory comparison of the Report to the applicable legal principles demonstrates the Referee's error.

- 7 -

<u>Hecker</u> does not mandate disbarment for drug crimes. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Pavlick</u>; <u>Carbonaro</u>; <u>Pettie</u>, ^{2/} <u>Pettie</u> does not establish a single exception to disbarment for drug crimes. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Pavlick</u>; <u>Carbonaro</u>; <u>Felder</u>.

The Referee makes no finding concerning whether Mr. Eisenberg is rehabilitated -- or if not, whether rehabilitation is highly improbable. And the record reflects no acknowledgment of the Bar's burden of proof or the requirement that disbarment is a permanent sanction which should never be decreed where a less severe punishment will accomplish the desired result.

As the record shows, Bar counsel's case consisted of proving Mr. Eisenberg's conviction and his plea agreement. Those facts are uncontested. The Report reflects no evidence designed to meet the Bar's burden for justifying disbarment -- the Bar offered no evidence on any matter tending to show that Mr. Eisenberg's rehabilitation is highly improbable.

THE COURT: There is no suggestion in this case that Mr. Eisenberg has ever laid his hands on any marijuana or cocaine or drugs of any type.

MR. GAFFNEY: Your Honor, there is absolutely no contention of that by the government, and that should be very clear.

Accord, Transcript of Hearing at 84.

 $^{2^{\}prime}$ Contrary to statements contained in the Report, Mr. Eisenberg was not ever charged with, or convicted of, engaging in the sale, distribution or importation of drugs. He was convicted of handling financial transactions which facilitated a marijuana smuggling effort (see pp. 13-14 below). With regard to Mr. Eisenberg's crime, the following exchange between the Court and the prosecutor at Mr. Eisenberg's sentencing is pertinent (the transcript of the sentencing proceeding is Exhibit 1 hereto; Exh. 1 at 31):

Quite apart from the failure of the Bar's case, Mr. Eisenberg put on eight witnesses who offered unrebutted testimony on all ten mitigating factors identified above. Without explanation, the Referee neither discusses this testimony nor describes his findings on the ten mitigating factors to which the testimony was addressed.

Finally, there appears to be a significant misapprehension by the Referee as to the permanent nature of disbarment. This Court has stated clearly that disbarment must be treated as a permanent sanction. The Florida Bar v. Blessing, 440 So.2d 1275, 1276-77 (Fla. 1983).^{3/} Thus, the law requires the Bar to show that Mr. Eisenberg should <u>never</u> be at the bar. <u>See</u> Carbonaro; <u>Moore</u>. The record suggests that the Referee did not so view the sanction (Transcript of Hearing ("Tr." at 22-23):

THE COURT: Anything further?

Let me ask one other question because there's a slight confusion by the Court. You said the test not to disbar is not --

MR. FRIEDMAN: The test not to disbar and if you look on the last page there it cites a case and it says - no, on the last page of my memo, Your Honor, at the bottom, if a person is someone who is - there's a little quote there that disbarment is used if the person is somebody who

 $\frac{3}{1}$ In <u>Blessing</u>, the Court said (440 So.2d at 1276-77):

[[]The Bar] urges that disbarment is not permanent and that respondent may petition for reinstatement, showing his rehabilitation, after three years. [Citation omitted.] Although [the Bar] is correct in this assertion, to follow it when there is an expectation of rehabilitation would needlessly blur the distinction between suspension and disbarment. The better view is , . . 'To sustain disbarment there must be a showing that the person charged should never be at the bar.'

should never, ever practice law again if that's the feeling of this Court.

THE COURT: Well, let me ask a question in light of that test. Why is it then that the Florida Bar only disbars for five years unless it's specifically some other time?

MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, they used to have --

THE COURT: I mean, what I'm saying, if it's only for five years, then that test wouldn't seem to be appropriate because a five-year disbarment would indicate that it is not a total unrehabilitable person.

If they said disbarment was unlimited in time without any time mentioned, then I would tend to agree with you. But if they say it's only five years, that seems to be a conflict in your test.

MR. FRIEDMAN: A lot of people have that belief, Your Honor, but that's not the case law and it's not just one case, it's numerous cases.

Bar counsel encouraged this view, possibly leading the Referee into error (Tr. at 25):

MR. GROSS: Your Honor, it is correct that there is no permanent disbarment in the State of Florida, there's no such thing as a permanent disbarment in Florida. It's not impossible to come back in but the fact that someone's disbarred does not mean for the rest of his life he can never hope to become a lawyer again.

<u>See also</u> Tr. at 145-46.

While one cannot determine conclusively the Referee's final view on this issue, Respondent notes that his disbarment was made effective retroactively to the date of his suspension -- a suggestion made by Bar counsel in the course of his argument that disbarment is not permanent (Tr. at 145-46). Respondent submits

that giving retroactive effect to a <u>permanent</u> sanction makes little sense, and therefore this Court should conclude that the Referee made an error of law by assuming that disbarment is not a permanent sanction.

3. The Facts Of This Case <u>Do Not Justify Disbarment.</u>

Respondent respectfully submits that the vast weight of the undisputed evidence shows that he is rehabilitated and that as a result, disbarment is not an appropriate sanction here. At a minimum, however, Respondent submits that there is no basis in the record for finding that his rehabilitation is "highly improbable." Consequently, Respondent should not be disbarred.

Before reviewing the supporting evidence on the ten mitigating factors listed above, this Court's attention is called to the unrebutted testimony of the psychiatrist from whom Mr. Eisenberg sought counsel in the Spring of 1984 until the time of his incarceration, resuming again after his release (Tr. at 44). Dr. Notarius gave the following opinion regarding Mr. Eisenberg's rehabilitation (Tr. at 46):

Q. Do you have an opinion as to whether or not he is a person who could be rehabilitated to hold a position of trust such as an attorney is required to hold?

A. I feel it's already been accomplished.

Q. Do you see any danger to either Lance himself or to society if in the future he would be able to be rehabilitated to the practice of law? A. I do not.

The Court's attention is also invited to the cross examination of Dr. Notarius -- cross examination not by Bar counsel, but by the Referee. As the following exchange shows, even under vigorous questioning, Dr. Notarius did not deviate from his views concerning Mr. Eisenberg's rehabilitation (Tr. at 48-51):

BY THE COURT:

Q. If a man is able to be rehabilitated, in this case, has been rehabilitated, that's subjective in itself, not so much as objective, isn't it? It's a subjective finding?

A. Any observation of any kind in reality is somewhat subjective but, you know, it says objective is what it can possibly be in our particular art or science.

Q. But even that has degrees, the degree of rehabilitation; is that correct?

A. I think a person is either rehabilitated or not. The degrees -- There's really no degree of rehabilitation. It's like a touch of pregnancy. If he's not rehabilitated, then you can assume that there would be a greater danger of similar kinds of behavior. So, I - I hope I'm being clear enough, Judge. That's kind of difficult to answer.

Q. Well, in the history of man and our associations with him, once they have fallen and sought to be rehabilitated again, many, many have fallen again.

A. Correct.

Q. So, upon reflection back of those people, they weren't really rehabilitated according to your definition.

A. Also, many people have not fallen.

Q. I see. *So*, we never know whether they are rehabilitated or not until they have not fallen?

A. It cannot be absolute, there's no question about that.

Q. And if it's not absolute, again, I ask you, isn't there degrees of rehabilitation?

Let me rephrase it then, if you want to use that type of -- Let me accept your view of it.

What are your views of his chances of falling again?

A. I wouldn't be here if I thought they were significant. I do not.

Q. Can you conceive of a situation that would present him in the future that maybe he would fall again?

A. No. No greater risk -- No degree of significance of greater risk than most other human beings. I mean, we're all subject to temptation.

Q. He has been confronted in the past with situations that many of us have not been. Large amounts of money, international trafficking of cocaine, or of narcotics, marijuana, repeated efforts to perpetuate this type of behavior. I gather from the information, the formal document that I have read before, perhaps in Jamaica, the Bahamas, Colombia and the Cayman Islands, it took a while, over a period of time for these repeated confrontations with multiple people, of monies and intelligence. These you don't run across with very often, this is abnormal confrontations with people. I wonder if he ran across these type people again, because of past associations, and was met with this type of engendering type ideas and business opportunities once he's down and out again with no money in his possession, do we have now a different situation?

A. My feeling that if that were to happen, as I know him now, he'd run like a scared rabbit. As noted above, to justify disbarment, the Bar must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that Mr. Eisenberg's rehabilitation is "highly improbable.!' Yet the Bar offered no evidence to rebut Dr. Notarius' opinion. Moreover, as shown below, the evidence on the ten mitigating factors supports a conclusion that Mr. Eisenberg's rehabilitation is complete. We now address those factors seriatim:

(1) Did the crime involve a violation of a client's trust?

Mr. Eisenberg did not plead guilty to, nor has he ever been charged with, a crime involving a violation of a client's trust. The Referee's Report fails to acknowledge this point. Mr. Eisenberg pleaded guilty to two felony counts contained in an Information prepared by the government. A copy of that Information is attached as Exhibit 2 -- neither the Bar nor Mr. Eisenberg's counsel in earlier proceedings have put the Information into the record. There is no suggestion that the prior indictments of Mr. Eisenberg, to which he pleaded not guilty and which were dismissed by the government, alleged violations of a client's trust.

The record is perfectly clear that Mr. Eisenberg took no action -- and has never been charged with taking an action -- that constitutes a violation of a client's trust. Indeed, the record in the criminal proceedings demonstrates that with Mr. Eisenberg, very much like the respondent in Pettie: "The relationship with

- 14 -

[his client - a drug smuggler] began as legitimate representation . . . in civil matters not relating to any criminal conduct. Over a period of time it slowly moved into a situation in which the respondent should have known what he was doing, but chose to wear blinders. It then developed into . . . knowing assistance. . . ." 424 So.2d at 736.

The evidence on this factor suggests that disbarment is not proper here -- Mr. Eisenberg's crime did not involve the violation of a client's trust.

(2) Did the respondent admit his quilt in the criminal case?

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