IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA .:

MAY SI 1939

ound 0

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 71,479

v.

LANCE E. EISENBERG,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAUL A. GROSS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 211 Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Disbarment is appropriate discipline where an attorney, acting in his capacity as an attorney, engages in illegal drug activities over a four year period of time. The referee has the discretion to recommend disbarment based upon the seriousness of the misconduct involved despite respondent's argument of mitigation or rehabilitation. Respondent's disagreement with the Referee's recommendation as to discipline is an insufficient basis to allege that the referee's conclusions are clearly erroneous or without evidentiary support.

Respondent argues that the evidence demonstrates that his disbarment is not warranted. The Florida Bar submits that not only does the evidence demonstrate that Respondent's disbarment is warranted, but such evidence demands that Respondent be disbarred.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPLICABLE LEGAL PRINCIPLES MANDATE THAT RESPONDENT BE DISBARRED

It is the position of the Florida Supreme Court that an attorney involved in drug trafficking be dealt with harshly. As stated by The Florida Supreme Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Hecker</u>, 475 So.2d 1240, 1243 (Fla. 1985), "Illegal drug activities are a major blight on our society nationally, statewide and locally." Thus, the court warned, "Members of the Bar should be on notice that participation in such activities... will be dealt with severely."

The Florida Supreme Court also addressed lawyers' involvement in drug activities and subsequent felony convictions in The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So. 2d 2, 4 (Fla. 1983).

Respondent was engaged in illegal drug trafficking, a troublesome and serious crime. We have not hesitated in the past to disbar an attorney for similar acts even though a referee recommended less severe discipline. See The Florida Bar v. Beasley, 351 So. 2d 959 (Fla. 1977). Illegal behavior involving moral turpitude "demonstrate(s) an intentional and flagrant disregard for the very laws Respondent is bound to uphold, the well being of the members of society, and the ethical standards applicable to members of the Bar of this State. In re Gorman, 269 Ind. 236, 240, 379 N.E.2d 970, 972, (1978). See also In re Roberson, 429 A. 2d 530 (D.C. Ct.App. 1981); In re Thomas, 420 N.E. 2d 1237 (Ind. 1981); State ex rel. Oklahoma Bar Association v. Denton, 598 P.2d 663 (Okla. 1979); Muniz v. State, 575 S.W. 2d 408 (Tex. Civ. App. 1978). "Of all classes and

professions, the lawyer is most sacredly bound to uphold the laws. He is their sworn servant; and for him •••to repudiate and override the laws... argues recreancy to his position and office." Ex Parte Wall, 107 U.S. 265, 274, 2 S. Ct. 569, 576, 27 L. Ed. 552 (1883). "The public has a right to expect the most from him who lays the greatest claim to its confidence." Levenson, 211 So.2d at 174.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lopez-Castro</u>, 508 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1987), The Supreme Court disbarred Mr. Lopez-Castro for "acting as the agent and attorney for other named defendants in that he knowingly invested the illicit profits of a marijuana smuggling syndicate and acquired and maintained assets through Panamanian corporations established for the sole purpose of concealing the identity of the other named defendants in the acquisition, maintenance and disposition of illicit assets." Likewise, Respondent in the case at bar participated in the same type of illegal activities. Such conduct in <u>Lopez</u> was viewed as a "betrayal of the trust and confidence of the bar and the public" thus warranting disbarment.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Marks</u>, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986) the Supreme Court disbarred Mr. Marks for his involvement in a scheme to import marijuana.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Price</u>, 478 So. 2d 812, 814 (Fla. 1985) the Supreme Court disbarred Mr. Price for participating in a conspiracy to import marijuana stating that, "Respondent's reprehensible acts are completely inconsistent with the high

professional standards expected, indeed required, of members of The Florida Bar."

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pettie</u>, <u>Jr.</u>, 424 So.2d 734, 738 (Fla. 1982) the Supreme Court held that absent the unique facts of the case and atypical nature of the case, Mr. Pettie's knowing participation in a criminal conspiracy to import drugs, forming a corporation to hold title to an airplane to be used in the importation of drugs and use of his law office would warrant disbarment.

Respondent argues that in order to justify disbarment, The Florida Bar must prove that Respondent's rehabilitation is highly improbable. However, in The Florida Bar v. Routh, 414 So.2d 1023, held 1025 (Fla. 1982), the Supreme Court t.hat. rehabilitation is relevant in a reinstatement proceeding but not in a disciplinary proceeding. As the Court stated in The Florida (Fla. 1969), "disbarment and Bar v. Scott, 227 So.2d 195 rehabilitation are procedurally independent and should not be considered simultaneously except for the most pressing reasons."

The Rules of Discipline provide for a disbarred attorney to be readmitted upon full compliance with the rules and regulations governing admission to the bar. It is at that point that evidence of Respondent's rehabilitation would be relevant, not in deciding the proper sanction in past, admitted violations by Respondent.

While the Court may recognize that attorneys are capable of being rehabilitated, by imposing sanctions less than disbarment even in drug related cases, two factors distinguish those cases in which a non-disbarment sanction was imposed from the case at In those cases where less than disbarment was imposed, some purported justification for the attorney's conduct is present (e.g. alcohol abuse, drug abuse or psychiatric difficulties). The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1987), Respondent had a severe chemical dependency problem. In The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 495 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1986), Respondent was severely addicted to cocaine. In The Florida Bar v. Carbonaro, 464 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1985), Respondent suffered from a personality disorder causing him to be under psychiatric care. The other factor that distinguishes those cases where less than disbarment was imposed is that the attorney's felony convictions were unrelated to their law practice, unlike the case at bar.

The Court may consider factors in mitigation that may justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed.

Accordingly, in <u>Pettie</u>, 424 So.2d at 736, the Supreme Court held that this was an atypical case where Pettie initiated contact with investigators of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement one week after the seizure of an aircraft smuggling drugs, rendering substantial and material assistance to law enforcement in the identification, arrest and prosecution of the

various conspirators involved including the arrest of approximately thirty subjects with large amounts of real and personal property seized and forfeiture proceedings instituted. Further, Pettie placed himself in personal danger by wearing a "body bug" at the request of the Department of Law Enforcement. The Department of Law Enforcement received information that a "contract" existed on Pettie's life and there was a threat to Pettie's personal safety since some defendants were still at large. As a result, Pettie was relocated outside of Florida with his whereabouts not known to anyone outside the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Thus, the Supreme Court held that "given the unique facts of the present case," such factors were to be taken into consideration as mitigation.

Where an attorney's misconduct is sufficiently grave to justify disbarment, mitigating factors are insufficient to lessen the enormity of the attorney's misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Roman, 526 So.2d 60, 62 (Fla. 1988). As the Court held in The Florida Bar v. Knowles, 500 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1986), even where Respondent has not practiced law since 1983, there were subsequent successful steps toward rehabilitation and other mitigating factors, the seriousness of the offense warranted disbarment. According to Florida'a Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, disbarment is appropriate when "a lawyer is convicted of a felony under applicable law" or "a lawyer engages in the

sale, distribution or importation of controlled substances" or "a lawyer attempts or conspires or solicits another to commit any of the offenses listed in sections (a)-(d)." Paragraph 5.11(a), (c) and (e).

The Referee may consider matters in aggravation and mitigation. See Paragraph 9.0 of the Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Paragraph 9.22 states that dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, multiple offenses and substantial experience in the practice of law are factors which may be considered in aggravation, among others. Paragraph 9(b)(c)(d) and (i).

II. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE BASED ON PROPERLY CONSIDERED EVIDENCE AND SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED.

The Report of Referee and the findings and recommendations contained therein should be accepted by this Court. The Referee's findings "should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support and must be sustained if supported by competent and substantial evidence." The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987) Respondent has failed to set forth any basis for this Court to reject the Report of Referee.

Respondent argues that the Referee applied the wrong legal standard by coming to the conclusion that Hecker requires disbarment of attorneys convicted of drug offenses. what the Referee did, in fact, was take the Florida Supreme Court's warning in Hecker, 475 So. 2d at 1243, that members of The Florida Bar should be on notice that participation in such activities would be dealt with severely and apply the aggravating factors in this case against what Respondent offered as miticonsidered gation. The aggravating factors were that Respondent's money laundering activities occurred while he was acting in the capacity of an attorney, and that Respondent's participation in such illegal activities encompassed a period of over four years (RR 3). The Referee did seriously consider the evidence offered by Respondent in mitigation of disbarment,

distinguished case law from the factors present in Respondent's case and came to the conclusion based on the evidence presented by both Respondent and The Florida Bar that despite the mitigating evidence presented by the Respondent, it was not enough to overcome the serious nature of his crimes thus warranting disbarment (RR 3-4).

Respondent argues that the Referee's Report erroneously contains statements that Respondent was charged with or convicted of engaging in the sale, distribution or importation of drugs. No where in the Report does the Referee state this. The Referee does cite the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, which states that disbarment is appropriate when "a lawyer is convicted of a felony under applicable law" and when "the lawyer engages in the sale, distribution or importation of controlled substances" Paragraph 5.11 (RR-4). Such Standards also mandate disbarment when a lawyer attempts or conspires or solicits felony or the sale, distribution or another to commit a importation of controlled substances, as Respondent did. Paragraph 5.11(e)

Respondent argues that the Referee made no finding concerning whether Respondent is rehabilitated or if not, whether rehabilitation is highly improbable and the Bar offered no evidence to show that Respondent's rehabilitation is highly improbable. However, as stated by the Florida Supreme Court in

The Florida Bar v. Routh, 414 So.2d at 1025, rehabilitation is relevant in a reinstatement proceeding but not in a disciplinary proceeding. Rehabilitation is relevant to whether an attorney should be readmitted to The Florida Bar upon full compliance with the rules and regulations governing admission to the bar, not in deciding the proper sanction in past admitted violations. At most, interim rehabilitation is one factor that may be considered to justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed. See Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Paragraph 9.31 and 9.32(j); The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983, 985 (Fla. 1983). Even if evidence of rehabilitation was proper at this point, there is no evidence showing that Respondent would not again grow bored and succumb to illegal activities when presented to him in the course of his law practice, as he did in the case at bar.

Respondent argues that the Referee neither discusses the testimony of Respondent's witnesses nor describes his findings on the ten mitigating factors to which the testimony was addressed. The Referee not only addresses all of the evidence presented at the hearing in his Report (RR 3-4) but a review of the transcript of the September 20, 1988 hearing shows the Referee's interest in the testimony offered by Respondent's witnesses (T. 48-53; 60; 68-69; 85-99; 125-131). The Referee states in his Report that "I did give serious consideration to the testimony of the eight

witnesses who testified on behalf of the Respondent," (RR-3) and goes on to distinguish the degree of Respondent's cooperation with the government, when it was initiated and the reasons for such cooperation from the <u>Pettie</u> case, presented by Respondent in support of his contention that such cooperation warranted a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed.

While Respondent has a due process right to offer testimony in mitigation of any penalty to be imposed as discipline, The Florida Bar v. Cruz, 490 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1986), a right which Respondent was clearly afforded, there is no requirement that in recommending discipline a referee must accept the arguments in mitigation offered by a respondent. As in Cruz where the Court held that it was apparent from the record at bar that the referee gave credence to the mitigating testimony since the referee recommended Respondent's disbarment be effective from the date of Respondent's suspension, it is apparent from the record at bar that the referee gave credence to the mitigating testimony, not stated above, but since the Referee recommended only as disbarment be effective from Respondent's the date of Respondent's suspension (RR-3). Moreover, it is not necessary that the Referee's Report specifically address each piece of evidence presented. Rule 3-7.5(k)(1) of the Rules of Discipline specify what is to be contained in the Referee's Report.

Accordingly, it is not error for the referee to omit mitigating factors offered by the Respondent from his report.

While Respondent contends that the Referee might have failed to understand the permanent nature of disbarment, the fact is that a disbarred member of The Florida Bar may be admitted again upon full compliance with the rules and regulations governing admission to the bar. Such application for admission may be tendered within five (5) years after the date of disbarment. See Rule 3-5.1(f), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, The Florida Bar v. Mattingly, 342 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1977).

It is quite clear that the referee's findings are fully supported by the clear and convincing weight of the evidence as established at the evidentiary hearing on September 20, 1988 and should be upheld by this Court.

III. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT IS FULLY WARRANTED

Respondent admits to and pled guilty to participating in a conspiracy, while acting in the capacity as attorney for a drug importer and trafficker, to conceal, hide and disguise proceeds and assets derived from drug trafficking. This drug conspiracy was not an isolated event but encompassed a period of over four years. This drug conspiracy did not involve only the United States, but also involved the Cayman Islands and Bahamas. As The Florida Supreme Court stated in The Florida Supreme Court stated in The Florida Bar v. Hecker, 475 So.2d 1240, 1243 (Fla. 1985):

Illegal drug activities are a major blight on our society--nationally, statewide and locally. Necessarily, members of the Bar are brought into contact with the illegal activity of their professional obligations to offer legal assistance to clients accused of wrongdoing. Members of the Bar should be on notice that participation in such activities beyond professional obligations will be dealt with severely.

Accordingly, the Florida Supreme Court disbarred Hecker for conspiracy to act as a drug procurer despite mitigating factors offered by Hecker, including his genuine remorse, participation in civic matters, cooperation and assistance to law enforcement officers, personal misfortunes and serving of his prison sentence. While recognizing that disbarment is the severest

sanction available and should not be imposed where less severe punishment would accomplish the desired purpose, the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the legal profession cannot tolerate such conduct and warrants disbarment. Likewise, Respondent's conduct cannot be tolerated and warrants disbarment.

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